



54th DIRECTING COUNCIL

67th SESSION OF THE REGIONAL COMMITTEE OF WHO FOR THE AMERICAS

Washington, D.C., USA, 28 September-2 October 2015

Provisional Agenda Item 3.2

CD54/3 4 August 2015 Original: English

ANNUAL REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF THE PAN AMERICAN SANITARY BUREAU

Championing Health for Sustainable Development and Equity: Leading by Example

CONTENTS

	Page
Preface	3
Introduction	5
Chapter I. Advancing Health and Equity	7
Toward Universal Health in the Americas	7
Eliminating and Controlling Infectious and Vaccine-Preventable Diseases	11
Tackling the Burden of Noncommunicable Diseases	17
Addressing the Social and Environmental Determinants of Health	20
Promoting Maternal, Child, and Adolescent Health	22
Cross-cutting Themes: Gender, Equity, Human Rights, and Ethnicity	24
Partnering for Emergency Preparedness and Response in Health	25
Advancing Health on the Inter-American Agenda	26
Chapter II. Enhancing Institutional Efficiency and Effectiveness	28
Internal Evaluation and Oversight	28
Information Technology and Management	28
Fostering Excellence and Ethics in Staff Performance	29
Chapter III. Looking Ahead: Positioning PAHO for the SDG Era	31
Monitoring Inequality: A Critical Challenge	34
Engaging at the Subnational Level	35
Universal Health and Health in All Policies	35
Prevention and Control of NCDs	36
Promoting Leadership by Example	37
Looking Beyond 2015	37
Acronyms and Abbreviations	38
Acknowledgements	40

To the Member States:

In accordance with the provisions of the Constitution of the Pan American Health Organization, I have the honor to present the 2015 annual report on the work of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau, Regional Office for the Americas of the World Health Organization. The report highlights developments resulting from our delivery of technical cooperation within the framework of the 2014-2019 Strategic Plan of the Pan American Health Organization, defined by its Governing Bodies.

Carissa F. Etienne Director

Preface

June 2015

This 2015 annual report highlights the achievements of the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO) over the past 12 months (July 2014 through June 2015) and describes the cooperation in health between and among PAHO's Member States and PAHO's secretariat, the Pan American Sanitary Bureau ("the Bureau"), which also serves as Regional Office for the Americas of the World Health Organization (WHO).

Pan American cooperation in health has been PAHO's *raison d'être* for well over a century and is a driving force behind our Region's impressive public health progress. With the Bureau's coordination and technical cooperation and in partnership with other agencies and organizations, PAHO Member States have set an example for the world through their success in controlling and eliminating vaccine-preventable and neglected tropical diseases, providing antiretroviral treatment for HIV, progressing toward the elimination of mother-to-child transmission of HIV and congenital syphilis, and achieving most of the health-related Millennium Development Goals (MDGs). This collaboration, its clear results, and the example it provides for other countries and regions together inspired the theme of this Annual Report: "Championing Health for Sustainable Development and Equity: Leading by Example."

I am pleased to report that the tradition of Pan American cooperation led to significant new accomplishments over the past year. I am particularly proud of two: first, the new regional commitment to universal access to health and universal health coverage, goals that I had defined as my highest priority when I became Director in 2013. The Strategy for Universal Access to Health and Universal Health Coverage, approved by PAHO's 53rd Directing Council, is itself a first for any WHO Region and opens the way for the Americas to become the world's first Region to achieve universal health. The second achievement of which I am especially proud is that as a Region we were able to certify the elimination of endemic rubella virus transmission and congenital rubella syndrome, a historic milestone for public health in the Americas.

My own leadership of the Bureau during the past year was also guided by the spirit of Pan Americanism. I maintained an active and engaged dialogue with PAHO's Member States and other partners, visiting 17 countries over the past year. I heard encouraging words about the value our members and partners place on the Bureau's roles as a facilitator and coordinator of Pan American cooperation and as a provider of technical expertise. I was pleased and impressed to see the many innovations that are being implemented by countries throughout the Region to improve people's health. Many of our Member States are eager to share with other countries what they know and what they do well, and to benefit from other countries' know-how and experience in health. Promoting and facilitating this kind of "leadership by example" is precisely the aim of our new and expanded program on Cooperation among Countries for Health Development.

I also reached out to leaders of other organizations and other sectors, from international financial institutions and sister United Nations (U.N.) agencies to ministers of finance and heads of government. I advocated at every opportunity for dedication of sufficient national resources—at least 6% of GDP—to health. I emphasized the importance of ensuring that health is promoted and protected in all public policies, not just those directly related to the health sector. In recent months, I coordinated with the World Bank's regional unit for Latin America and the Caribbean, the Inter-American Development Bank, and the Development Bank of Latin America (CAF) to ensure that financing mechanisms were available to our Member States for Ebola preparedness. I also met with other partners, such as the World Organisation for Animal Health (OIE) to strengthen our long-term relationship and to advocate for greater focus on the animal-human public health interface. In all these interactions, I was gratified to see strong appreciation for PAHO's work in the Region and a readiness to partner with us.

Internally, the Bureau continued during the past year to implement managerial, technological, and organizational changes to improve our effectiveness and efficiency and to strengthen our delivery of technical cooperation. Some of these changes put additional, albeit temporary, pressures on the Bureau's staff, who had to dedicate time and effort to learning new systems—particularly the new PASB Management Information System (PMIS)—while continuing to carry their regular workload. These organizational efforts took place alongside our core work of advancing the PAHO Strategic Plan 2014-2019 and responding in cooperation with our Member States to pressing health challenges.

In presenting this report to PAHO's Governing Bodies, I wish to thank each and every member of our staff for their dedicated commitment, diligence, and passion in collectively pursuing the Bureau's mission. I am also very grateful to our Member States and other partners for their invaluable collaboration and ongoing support. I look forward to all of us working together in the new era of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) to ensure that the Region of the Americas continues to lead by example, advancing health for all in our hemisphere and beyond.

Carissa F. Etienne Director Pan American Health Organization

Introduction

The Region of the Americas achieved a number of significant public health milestones during the 12-month period ending in June 2015:

- The Americas became the first Region in the world to be declared free of endemic transmission of rubella virus and congenital rubella syndrome (CRS).
- Cuba became the world's first country to be validated as having eliminated mother-to-child transmission of HIV and syphilis.
- Ecuador became the world's second country (after Colombia in 2013) to eliminate the scourge of onchocerciasis, or river blindness.
- Nicaragua and Uruguay set an example by being the world's first countries to ratify the WHO Protocol to Eliminate Illicit Trade in Tobacco Products.
- In a historic agreement at the 53rd Directing Council of the Pan American Health Organization, PAHO Member States unanimously endorsed the goals of universal access to health and universal health coverage and adopted a regional strategy to advance these goals.

These milestones were cause for celebration and recognition of the commitment, collaboration, and hard work that went into achieving them. But the Region also faced continuing and new health challenges that required critical attention and focused responses:

- Although maternal mortality declined nearly 40% in Latin America and the Caribbean between 1990 and 2013, this reduction was appreciably below the 75% called for by the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs). In 2013, the most recent year for which data are available, some 9,300 women died from maternal causes in Latin America and the Caribbean.
- Ebola virus was brought from West Africa to the United States, raising the possibility of imported cases in Latin America and the Caribbean and testing the preparedness and response capacity of ministries of health and the implementation of the International Health Regulations core capacities.
- Chikungunya continued to spread in and beyond the Caribbean, overwhelming health services in some countries. By mid-2015, 40 countries and territories in the Region had reported local transmission of the virus, for a cumulative total of more than 1.5 million cases and 238 deaths.
- Cholera continued to claim lives and cause suffering in Haiti, where nearly 40,000 cases and over 400 deaths were reported between June 2014 and May 2015. Cholera cases were also reported in Cuba, the Dominican Republic, and Mexico.
- Natural disasters, including floods in Chile and Paraguay and serious droughts in Guatemala and Honduras, claimed dozens of lives and disrupted life for tens of thousands of individuals and families.

- Noncommunicable diseases (NCDs) and their risk factors affected growing numbers of people in the Region, causing 80% of all deaths and overwhelming national health budgets and health systems.
- Millions of people in the Americas were unable to access needed health services
 due to high health care costs, political and economic crises, and other barriers,
 despite meaningful progress toward the goals of universal access to health and
 universal health coverage.
- Other notable health inequities persist in the Region as a result of social and cultural exclusion, unemployment, poor working conditions, lack of education and information, geographic isolation, unhealthy environments, and other social determinants.

This report describes the work of PAHO's secretariat, the Pan American Sanitary Bureau ("the Bureau"), together with its Member States and other partners toward these and other achievements and in response to new and persisting health challenges during the reporting period. The report also highlights the Bureau's internal measures aimed at increasing organizational efficiency and improving its delivery of technical cooperation to Member States. Finally, the report discusses how the Bureau is positioning itself to support Member States in advancing health and equity in the new era of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).

Details on PAHO's financial situation are provided in the Financial Report of the Director and Report of the External Auditor for 2014. Additional details on the Organization's technical cooperation programs and their results through the end of 2015 will be provided in the End-of-Biennium Assessment of the Program and Budget 2014-2015, to be published in 2016.

Chapter I. Advancing Health and Equity

- 1. The health milestones achieved in the Americas between July 2014 and June 2015 would not have been possible without the coordinated efforts of PAHO Member States, the Bureau, and partner organizations at the country, regional, and global levels. The Bureau's role in these achievements included not only technical cooperation and normative guidance but also convening expertise and forging partnerships, facilitating dialogue and negotiation, and in other ways exercising and promoting "leadership by example."
- 2. The 53rd Directing Council was a prime example of these dynamics. The historic Strategy for Universal Access to Health and Universal Health Coverage and seven regional plans of action that were adopted by the 2014 Directing Council were developed with technical expertise from the Bureau, with major contributions and feedback from Member States, and in consultation with partner agencies and civil society organizations. The result was a groundbreaking regional commitment to pursue "health for all" in the Americas.

Toward Universal Health in the Americas

- 3. In the past decade, the countries of the Americas have made significant progress in improving access to health systems and services. However, in a number of countries some 10%-15% of the population still experience catastrophic out-of-pocket health expenditures, putting them at risk of impoverishment. To address this longstanding but urgent problem, the Bureau spearheaded a series of consultations on how to expand access to health services and health coverage and advance toward "universal health." More than 1,200 health officials and other PAHO stakeholders from 31 countries and territories participated in these events, which took place from May to August 2014.
- 4. The culmination of this broad consultative process was the 53rd PAHO Directing Council's approval of the new regional Strategy for Universal Access to Health and Universal Health Coverage (Document CD53/5, Rev. 2 [2014]) in October 2014. The strategy endorses universal health as a shared aspiration of PAHO Member States and sets out lines of action for countries to advance toward this goal (see box), while acknowledging that each country will develop its own path according to its social, economic, political, legal, historical, and cultural contexts.

7

Atun R, de Andrade LO, Almeida G, Cotlear D, Dmytraczenko T, Frenz P, Garcia P, Gómez-Dantés O, Knaul FM, Muntaner C, de Paula JB, Rígoli F, Serrate PC, Wagstaff A. Health-system reform and universal health coverage in Latin America. Lancet. 2015 Mar 28;385(9974):1230-47.

The PAHO Strategy for Universal Health

The 2014 PAHO Strategy for Universal Access to Health and Universal Health Coverage (Document CD53/5, Rev. 2 [2014]) sets the goal, at both the regional and country levels, of ensuring that "all people and communities have access, without discrimination, to comprehensive, appropriate and timely, quality health services determined at the national level according to needs, as well as access to safe, effective, and affordable quality medicines, while ensuring that the use of such services does not expose users to financial difficulties, especially groups in conditions of vulnerability."

To advance toward universal health, the strategy establishes four strategic lines of action: 1) expanding equitable access to comprehensive, quality, people- and community-centered health services; 2) strengthening stewardship and governance; 3) increasing and improving financing, with equity and efficiency, and advancing toward the elimination of direct payment that constitutes a barrier to access at the point of service; and 4) strengthening intersectoral coordination to address the social determinants of health.

The Strategy calls on the Bureau to support country action in these areas with technical cooperation and to monitor and report on the countries' progress.

5. With the Bureau's technical cooperation, by mid-2015, 11 countries had developed or were implementing national plans to advance toward universal health. Other support during the reporting period included training for 200 professionals in management of health services, financing and health economics, governance, and stewardship; studies on health system efficiency or fiscal space issues in 11 countries; assistance with developing national health accounts for 15 countries; and the development of a monitoring and evaluation framework to measure countries' progress toward universal health. The Bureau also helped ministries of health advocate with ministers of finance and financial institutions for increased health financing.

Changing Professional Paradigms

- 6. Health systems that seek to ensure universal health must place priority on primary health care and integrated services that are staffed by professionals working in interdisciplinary teams, with special focus on groups whose health needs have traditionally been underserved. Many existing health systems in the Americas, by contrast, are fragmented, short on primary health care staff, and top-heavy with medical specialists concentrated in urban areas.
- 7. To address these problems, the Bureau collaborated with 10 countries during the reporting period—Argentina, Brazil, Canada, Colombia, Chile, Guatemala, Nicaragua, Panama, the United States, and Venezuela—in efforts to shift medical school paradigms toward a "social mission" in the education of doctors and other health workers. The goal is to produce health professionals with training and experience in primary care and integrated health service delivery, who are committed to the health needs of the most vulnerable and, when needed, willing to practice in underserved areas.

8. During the reporting period, Bureau experts worked with ministries of health and medical schools in the 10 participating countries to define national-level education and training requirements for professionals in community health centers and to develop technical recommendations for in-service training programs in those centers. The project also produced a preliminary set of indicators to measure progress in incorporating the social mission paradigm in medical schools and medical training.

"Mais Médicos" in Brazil

- 9. Despite its strong commitment to universal health, Brazil—like many other countries—has found it difficult to meet the health needs of vulnerable populations and remote communities. Indeed, Brazil's size and geography make the goal of universal health especially challenging.
- 10. Brazil's Mais Médicos program addresses these challenges by increasing the availability of medical training in its national universities, improving incentives for health professionals to work in underserved areas, and, as needed, recruiting personnel from outside the country to provide health services in underserved communities. Since its inception in 2013, Mais Médicos has expanded access to primary health care to more than 60 million people in Brazil. The country has also invested 5.6 billion reais (nearly US\$ 1.8 billion²) in health infrastructure as part of the program.
- 11. The Bureau has supported the Mais Médicos program with technical cooperation and, in particular, assistance in integrating members of Cuba's international medical brigades. As of mid-2015, more than 11,400 Cuban doctors were participating in the program, along with some 5,600 Brazilians and more than 1,000 doctors and health care workers from other countries. The Bureau has also supported Brazil's development of a monitoring and evaluation framework for the program and in documenting best practices and lessons learned to share with other PAHO Member States.
- 12. Two independent evaluations of Brazil's Mais Médicos program have shown positive results.³ In the first study, 95% of users reported being satisfied with the performance of participating doctors, while 86% said the quality of care had improved as a result of the program. The second study found that waiting times in clinics had declined 89% since the program began, despite an increase of 33% in the average monthly number of visits. The number of doctor home visits had also increased, by 32%.
- 13. To scale up the domestic health work force, Brazil is currently in the process of expanding medical school enrollments by 11,500 students and creating 12,400 new residency positions for specialists by 2017.

² Unless otherwise indicated, all monetary figures in this report are expressed in United States dollars.

³ Federal University of Minas Gerais, April 2015; and Court of Audit of the Federation. TC No. 005.391/2014-8 May 2014.

New Models for Pan American Cooperation

In March 2015, the Bureau followed up on its 2013 proposed policy for Cooperation for Health Development in the Americas (Document CD52/11 [2013]) by convening a consultation in Panama. Some 80 participants from 26 Member States joined representatives of Associate Member States, subregional integration entities, and partner agencies of the United Nations and inter-American systems to review the policy and make recommendations on strategies and mechanisms for implementing it. Using these recommendations along with the results of a Bureau-wide survey and a review of PAHO's country-to-country cooperation experiences from 2008 to 2013, the Bureau produced a proposed new Cooperation among Countries for Health Development (CCHD) framework.

Also during the reporting period, the Bureau updated the PAHO Key Country Strategy, which guides the Organization's technical cooperation with Bolivia, Guatemala, Guyana, Haiti, Honduras, Nicaragua, Paraguay, and Suriname. A major aim was to identify specific approaches to provide these countries with special support for their pressing health challenges. The updated strategy uses the framework of the renewed WHO Country Focus Strategy and incorporates input from the Bureau's department heads and PAHO/WHO Representatives (PWRs). The final version was presented to PAHO's Senior Advisory Group in February 2015 and approved by senior management for incorporation into the Bureau's technical cooperation.

Caribbean Regulatory System for Medicines and Health Technologies

- 14. Ensuring access to safe and effective medicines and health technologies is an essential public health function and is critical to achieving universal health. As part of efforts to build capacity in this area in Member States, the Bureau worked with members of the Caribbean Community (CARICOM) to develop the Caribbean Regulatory System initiative. An implementation policy and proposal for the system was endorsed by CARICOM ministers of health in September 2014.
- 15. The initiative's goal is to increase access to safe, effective, affordable, and quality-assured medicines and health technologies for small island states of the Caribbean, which face special challenges in this regard. The proposed system will be based at the Caribbean Public Health Agency (CARPHA) and will initially focus on registration of priority generic medicines that have already been approved by a PAHO-designated national regulatory authority (NRA) of regional reference.⁴ In a second phase, the Caribbean Regulatory System will focus on pharmacovigilance and post-marketing surveillance of registered products. The system's creation is being supported with funds from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA), but the Caribbean Regulatory System will increasingly be sustained through user fees paid by pharmaceutical companies.

10

⁴ As of June 2015, the PAHO-designated NRAs of regional reference included ANMAT in Argentina, ANVISA in Brazil, Health Canada, INVIMA in Colombia, CECMED in Cuba, COFEPRIS in Mexico, and FDA in the United States.

PAHO Strategic Fund

The Regional Revolving Fund for Strategic Public Health Supplies, known as the PAHO Strategic Fund, continued to play an important role in promoting access to high-quality, essential public health supplies for Member States. From June 2014 through June 2015, 17 of the Region's countries used the Fund to procure approximately \$66 million in medicines and other essential public health supplies; three countries used the Fund's capital account to avoid the risk of drug shortages. During the reporting period, PAHO issued its first long-term agreements (LTAs) with manufacturers to establish standard prices for all Member States on 23 medicines used to treat noncommunicable diseases (NCDs).

Eliminating and Controlling Infectious and Vaccine-Preventable Diseases

16. Infectious diseases have continued to be a major public health challenge in the Americas despite the ongoing epidemiological transition toward NCDs. During the reporting period, PAHO Member States made significant progress in prevention and control of communicable diseases. The Bureau's extensive technical cooperation ranged from support for elimination of neglected and vaccine-preventable diseases to helping countries obtain external financing to fight HIV, tuberculosis, and malaria.

Historic Milestone: Elimination of Rubella and CRS

- 17. A major highlight of the reporting period was the announcement in April 2015 that the Americas had become the world's first Region to eliminate rubella and congenital rubella syndrome (CRS). Rubella and CRS were the third and fourth diseases to be eliminated first in the Americas, following smallpox in 1971 and polio in 1994.
- 18. The declaration was made by the International Expert Committee for Measles and Rubella Elimination in the Americas after reviewing epidemiological evidence and determining that no endemic transmission of rubella virus or cases of CRS had occurred in the Region since 2009, exceeding the three-year requirement for elimination.
- 19. The achievement was the culmination of a 15-year consolidated effort to eliminate both measles and rubella that was coordinated by the Bureau and supported by ministries of health, donors and other international partners, and health workers throughout the Region. In making the announcement, the International Expert Committee said that it hoped to declare measles eliminated from the Americas in the near future.
- 20. The announcement of rubella and CRS elimination came during the 13th annual Vaccination Week in the Americas, which took place from April 25 to May 2. Vaccination Week historically played a key supporting role in the elimination of rubella and CRS by making vaccines widely available throughout the Region, and especially to vulnerable and hard-to-reach populations.

21. With the slogan "Boost your power! Get vaccinated!" the 2015 initiative targeted more than 60 million children and adults with vaccines against diseases that included measles and rubella, seasonal influenza, polio, and neonatal tetanus. More than a dozen countries also used the opportunity to combine immunization with other public health interventions, including deworming and vitamin A supplementation, diabetes and hypertension screening, HIV testing, sexual and reproductive health education, and vaccination of pets. In addition to ministries of health, other partners included UNICEF, UNAIDS, UNDP, the Sabin Vaccine Institute, and the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Since its inception in 2003, Vaccination Week in the Americas has reached more than half a billion people throughout the hemisphere.

PAHO Revolving Fund

The Revolving Fund for Vaccine Procurement, as part of PAHO's comprehensive technical cooperation approach on immunization, has provided crucial support for the Region's achievements, including its elimination of vaccine-preventable diseases and its introduction of new vaccines, such as for rotavirus, pneumococcal disease, and human papillomavirus (HPV). A noteworthy achievement was the Bureau's successful negotiations to make both HPV vaccines currently on the market available for procurement through the Fund at reduced prices.

Between June 2014 and June 2015, the Fund procured more than \$547 million worth of vaccines and \$3.5 million worth of syringes for immunization programs in 41 participating countries and territories. The PAHO Revolving Fund has become an example for other international organizations and other WHO regions of an effective mechanism to ensure an uninterrupted supply of affordable, quality vaccines in the complex global vaccine market. Increasing Member States' awareness of global vaccine market dynamics and challenges, support for demand planning, and ensuring the timely availability of quality vaccines and supplies are key elements of PAHO's technical cooperation.

Mobilizing Global Fund Financing

- 22. A key area of support for Member States' efforts to fight infectious diseases was the Bureau's assistance in mobilizing resources from the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria. During the reporting period, Bureau staff at the regional and country levels worked with health officials in 14 of the Region's Fund-eligible Member States on 23 funding proposals addressing specific challenges related to HIV, TB, and malaria. By June 2015, 11 of these proposals had been approved by the Fund, representing \$146,895,670 in new resources, while results were pending from the Fund's technical review of the remaining 12 proposals.
- 23. The funding catalyzed by PAHO during this period will support efforts to address issues that continue to negatively impact primarily vulnerable populations. These include:
- Efforts to reduce Haiti's high prevalence of HIV, estimated at 2.2% of the population (data for 2012), as well as the highest incidence and prevalence of TB in the Americas.

- Efforts to improve and expand malaria diagnosis, treatment, and surveillance in Suriname, with a focus on mining areas where the disease has been pervasive despite progress elsewhere in the country.
- Interventions intended to reduce locally transmitted malaria cases in Honduras by 45% and to achieve zero cases of *P. falciparum* malaria by 2017. The funds will support improved case management, integrated vector control, and stepped-up investigation and detection of cases.

Promoting Ebola Preparedness

- 24. Following the exponential spread of Ebola in West Africa during the second half of 2014, the Bureau worked proactively with its Member States to raise awareness and strengthen preparedness for the potential introduction of the virus into the Americas.
- 25. In October 2014, days after the United States confirmed its first imported Ebola case, PAHO's Director established a task force to assess the Ebola risk in Latin America and the Caribbean and to propose a set of actions to improve countries' preparedness. The result was a Framework for Strengthening National Preparedness for Ebola Virus Disease (EVD) in the Americas. Following consultations with Member States, the Bureau mobilized 25 country missions staffed by its own experts as well as experts from the Caribbean Public Health Agency (CARPHA), the U.S. CDC's Caribbean office, and WHO's Global Outbreak Alert and Response Network (GOARN). Conducted between November 2014 and January 2015, these missions to the countries helped them identify their gaps in preparedness (see box) and priority areas for action. In a third phase, the Bureau supported countries in implementing the missions' recommendations and in assessing their future needs.

Gaps in Ebola Preparedness

PAHO expert missions identified a number of gaps in Member States' preparedness for the possible introduction of Ebola. Among the missions' findings were:

- 1) Some countries rely excessively on port-of-entry screening to identify and prevent the introduction of a potential case of Ebola virus disease (EVD) while placing less emphasis on health services, where a first case is most likely to present.
- 2) Epidemiological capacity and health services are not well coordinated; insufficient emphasis is placed on the detection of unusual health events and combined use of clinical and epidemiological information (such as unusual constellations of symptoms and travel histories) by health-care workers.
- 3) Fragmentation of health services is a challenge for effective management of an EVD-related event, from detection to treatment and disinfection.
- 4) Shipment of samples to the Biosafety Level (BSL) 4 laboratories at the WHO Collaborating Centers for confirmation of Ebola virus infections poses major challenges. Only four countries have BSL-3 laboratories with EVD diagnostic capacity.

- 5) Countries have designated isolation areas but limited numbers of trained personnel. Several countries are unlikely to meet the conditions for safely treating a potential or confirmed EVD case due to crumbling hospital infrastructure and lack of infection prevention and control programs.
- 6) Countries lack sufficient personal protective equipment (PPE) to manage a patient according to infection prevention and control risk assessment principles. Moreover, they have limited ability to procure PPE given current global shortages.
- 26. Other support for Ebola preparedness included activation of the Bureau's incident management system; the establishment of a regional stockpile of personal protective equipment; and training in clinical management of Ebola, risk communication, infection prevention and control, and laboratory diagnosis and biosafety. Over a six-month period, more than 1,600 professionals received training in these areas.
- 27. The Bureau also supported the Ebola response in affected West African countries by deploying 17 staff members and assisting Member States with deployments of their nationals.
- 28. In related efforts, the Bureau partnered with the Organization of American States (OAS), the World Bank's regional unit for Latin America and the Caribbean, the Inter-American Development Bank (IDB), and the Development Bank of Latin America (CAF) to develop financial mechanisms to strengthen countries' preparedness and response capacities to handle outbreaks of emerging epidemic diseases, in line with the requirements of the International Health Regulations (IHR). As a result of this work, the World Bank and the IDB identified country projects whose financing could be reprogrammed for Ebola preparedness and response, while CAF made financial resources available through a line of credit. In addition, the IDB, together with PAHO and CARPHA, developed a project to strengthen Ebola preparedness that will be implemented starting in the second half of 2015.

Emerging Mosquito-borne Diseases

Chikungunya—which first emerged in the Americas via Sint Maarten in late 2013—continued to spread throughout the Caribbean and beyond during the reporting period. By June 2015, 40 countries and territories had reported local transmission of the virus, for a regional total of more than 1.5 million cases and 238 deaths. In collaboration with the U.S. CDC, the Bureau developed and piloted tools to characterize cases and classify chikungunya deaths, established mechanisms to share laboratory samples, and provided countries with laboratory reagents and quality control panels for diagnosis of the disease. The Bureau also published weekly epidemiological updates on the disease's spread.

In May 2015, Brazil confirmed the first local transmission in the Americas of Zika virus, another *Flavivirus* that causes symptoms similar to those of chikungunya and dengue. The Bureau, in collaboration with other partners, developed and disseminated technical guidelines and algorithms for diagnosing the virus, and also facilitated relevant training for Member States.

Eliminating Mother-to-Child Transmission of HIV and Syphilis

- 29. Progress toward eliminating mother-to-child transmission of HIV and syphilis continued during the reporting period, in line with the 2010 Plan of Action for the Elimination of Mother-to-Child transmission of HIV and Congenital Syphilis (Document CD50/15 [2010]). The Bureau provided targeted technical cooperation to countries with major coverage gaps in essential services, including capacity-building, strengthening of laboratory networks and services, and country evaluations. A new guidance document on scaling-up of syphilis testing was also developed through a regional consensus-building process in collaboration with the U.S. CDC.
- 30. In December 2014, the Bureau, with support from WHO and UNICEF, published an update on regional progress toward the goals set in the 2010 plan of action. Among the report's findings: between 2010 and 2013, HIV testing and counseling of pregnant women increased by 18%, reaching 74% at the regional level; antiretroviral treatment increased more than 57%, to 93% of pregnant women with HIV; and syphilis testing of pregnant women remained stable at 80%. In addition, data from seven countries and territories—Anguilla, Barbados, Canada, Cuba, Montserrat, Puerto Rico, and the United States—were strongly consistent with a profile of elimination of mother-to-child transmission of HIV and syphilis.⁵
- 31. In March 2015, the Americas became the first WHO Region to carry out a formal validation assessment of elimination at the national level of mother-to-child transmission of HIV and syphilis, in this case in Cuba. In close collaboration with WHO, the Bureau developed a validation strategy and tools, and PAHO's Director appointed an independent Regional Validation Committee to undertake the process with support from Bureau experts as well as UNICEF.
- 32. As a result of this process, in June 2015, Cuba received validation of its elimination of mother-to-child transmission of HIV and syphilis, becoming the first country in the world to do so. Meanwhile, Barbados, the British Virgin Islands, and Jamaica submitted requests for validation of their elimination of mother-to-child transmission of one or both of these diseases.

Tuberculosis and Malaria

33. During the reporting period, four new cities—Guatemala City, Guatemala; Tijuana, Mexico; Asunción, Paraguay; and Montevideo, Uruguay—became part of the Tuberculosis Control in Large Cities initiative, a PAHO initiative supported by the U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID). By June 2015, three other cities were in the pipeline to join, for a total of 11 cities across the Region participating in this

Mother-to-child transmission (MTCT) of HIV is considered eliminated when there are fewer than 50 cases per 100,000 live births and a rate of less than 5% in breastfeeding populations or less than 2% in non-breastfeeding populations. For syphilis, MTCT is considered eliminated when there are fewer than 50 cases per 100,000 live births.

innovative program, which seeks to accelerate TB control by using an all-of-society approach.

- 34. The Bureau officially engaged as a partner in the Haiti Malaria Elimination Consortium, launched in February 2015 with a \$29.9 million grant from the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation to support malaria elimination efforts on the island of Hispaniola. With the U.S. CDC as lead, the consortium includes PAHO, the Carter Center, the Clinton Health Access Initiative, the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, and Tulane University's Center for Applied Malaria Research and Evaluation.
- 35. The consortium's work will also contribute to meeting the targets set by the Global Fund–supported Elimination of Malaria in Mesoamerica and Hispaniola initiative and the binational Haiti–Dominican Republic plan to eliminate malaria and lymphatic filariasis from Hispaniola by 2020. Of the 21 malaria-endemic countries in the Americas, 14 have ongoing efforts toward malaria elimination. In response to a request from Argentina, the Bureau and WHO initiated the process to certify malaria elimination from its national territory.

Elimination of Neglected Infectious Diseases

- 36. The Region also made progress toward the elimination of neglected infectious diseases during the reporting period, in particular, onchocerciasis and Chagas disease. In September 2014, Ecuador became the world's second country (after Colombia in 2013) to be verified as having eliminated onchocerciasis, or "river blindness." In the following months, Guatemala and Mexico submitted requests for verification. Only two foci of the disease now remain in the Americas, both in the Yanomami area on the border between Brazil and Venezuela.
- 37. Also in 2014, the State of São Paulo, Brazil, received verification from an international expert team assembled by PAHO/WHO that it had eliminated Chagas disease as a public health problem. Despite progress in Brazil and other affected countries, an estimated 6 million people in the Americas remain infected with Chagas disease.

Twenty Years of "Basic Indicators"

In 2014, PAHO's Regional Core Health Data and Country Profile initiative celebrated the 20th anniversary of its publication "Health Situation in the Americas: Basic Indicators." The 12-page brochure is published annually and provides high-quality, up-to-date data to guide the Bureau's technical cooperation and to facilitate monitoring and follow-up of regional and global health goals. Data are compiled, processed, and reviewed in collaboration with ministries of health and planning and statistics offices in Member States. The initiative is part of the PAHO/WHO Regional Health Observatory.

Progress in Animal Health

- 38. In January 2015, PAHO's Pan American Foot-and-Mouth Disease Center (PANAFTOSA) in Rio de Janeiro marked the animal health milestone of three consecutive years in the Americas without this debilitating and often fatal livestock disease. Thanks to these same efforts, Bolivia, Ecuador, and Paraguay received formal recognition of their FMD-free status from the OIE.
- 39. The absence of FMD ensures healthier and more productive animal husbandry, promotes food security, and helps maintain the value of the Region's international exports, thus contributing to socioeconomic development.
- 40. To protect these achievements, PANAFTOSA established a foot-and-mouth disease vaccine and antigen bank (at the request of the South American Commission for the Fight against Foot-and-Mouth Disease, COSALFA) and a new Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations/World Organisation for Animal Health (FAO/OIE) reference laboratory for FMD at Brazil's National Agricultural Laboratory in Minas Gerais.
- 41. In the Caribbean, the Bureau coordinated with the University of the West Indies, the Inter-American Institute for Cooperation on Agriculture (IICA), and FAO to launch the "One Health Leadership Series," a capacity-building program that promotes cross sector action by bringing together professionals from the health, agriculture, and environmental sectors. The program is based on CARICOM's "One Health" policy, which was developed by PAHO and FAO and was ratified by the subregion's ministers of health in 2014 and its ministers of environment in 2015. The policy and leadership series address health issues at the human-animal-environment interface, including food security, tourism, zoonotic diseases, water supply and quality, and climate change.

Tackling the Burden of Noncommunicable Diseases

- 42. The number of people suffering and dying from NCDs in the Americas continues to grow, as a result of population growth and aging, and despite success in reducing rates of cardiovascular disease. PAHO's most recent data show that 4.5 million people die every year in the Region from NCDs and their risk factors, 1.5 million of them prematurely (between ages 30 and 69). Mitigating this growing burden and its impact on health systems is critical to ensure progress toward universal health. During 2014-2015, the Bureau's technical cooperation on NCDs ranged from support for country legislation and regulations on tobacco, alcohol, and other risk factors to pilot studies of a new model for improving hypertension treatment and control.
- 43. An important development in this area was the adoption by PAHO Member States of a new Plan of Action for the Prevention of Obesity in Children and Adolescents (Document CD53/9, Rev. 2 [2014]) in October 2014. The first of its kind in any WHO Region, the plan seeks to halt the Region's rapidly growing obesity epidemic in children

and youths, the age group whose nutritional status and eating patterns will shape future health.

- 44. The plan targets the increasingly "obesogenic" environments in which children are growing up in the Americas as a result of urbanization, modernization, and global marketing and trade. These forces have increased both the availability and the affordability of energy-dense, nutrient-poor ultra-processed foods and beverages at the expense of whole, fresh foods, while also reducing opportunities for physical activity.
- 45. To counteract these conditions, the plan proposes five strategic lines of action: 1) primary health care and promotion of breastfeeding and healthy eating; 2) improvement of school nutrition and physical activity environments; 3) fiscal policies and regulation of food marketing and labeling; 4) other multisectoral actions; and 5) surveillance, research, and evaluation.

Reducing NCD Risk Factors through Regulation

- 46. Reducing exposure to alcohol, tobacco, and unhealthy foods by making the "healthy choice the easy choice" has been shown to be one of the most cost-effective ways of reducing NCDs. PAHO's new REGULA (Strengthening the Regulatory Capacity for NCD Risk Factors) initiative is aimed at strengthening countries' abilities to develop and implement legislative, regulatory, and fiscal measures toward this end. Examples include increased taxes on sugary beverages, price incentives for healthy food products, front-of-package nutrition labeling and health warnings, and restrictions on marketing of harmful products.
- 47. During the reporting period, the Bureau developed a technical reference document as part of the REGULA initiative and convened a group of experts from Brazil, Canada, Chile, Colombia, Mexico, Peru, and the United States to review the document and propose lines of action for technical cooperation in this area. The group identified four key lines of action for the Bureau: *a)* ongoing surveillance of NCD risk factors and evaluation of regulatory processes; *b)* development of organizational structures, financing, and processes for regulatory entities; *c)* development of technical expertise on controlling NCD risks; and *d)* promotion of research on the effectiveness of, and best practices in, regulatory action to reduce NCD risks.
- 48. In January 2015, the Bureau brought together experts on alcohol marketing and regulation from countries in the Americas and Europe and from Australia, India, and South Africa to review evidence on the effects of alcohol marketing, particularly on young people, and on the effectiveness of voluntary as opposed to statutory regulation. The experts concluded that alcohol advertising and promotion should be regulated, monitored, and evaluated by governments independently of the alcohol industry and that comprehensive bans on alcohol marketing are most effective. They called on the Bureau to provide guidance to Member States in developing and enacting legislation in this regard.

SaltSmart Consortium

PAHO's SaltSmart Consortium is an example of voluntary collaboration between health advocates and the private sector to advance public health goals. The initiative builds on successful efforts to persuade food makers in several countries of the Americas to lower the salt content of processed foods, in line with global and regional recommendations for reducing high blood pressure and cardiovascular disease. In 2014, the consortium produced a series of principles and specific targets to guide efforts throughout the Region to reduce salt in foods ranging from bread and crackers to soups and processed meats.

Supporting Countries in Defending Market Regulation

- 49. Not surprisingly, mandatory laws and regulations aimed at reducing consumption of tobacco, alcohol, sugary beverages, and ultra-processed foods have provoked resistance from producers of these products. Industry opposition has ranged from efforts to influence the public and intragovernmental debates to legal action to block the implementation of such measures.
- 50. Pursuant to requests from some Member States, the Bureau has supported governments not only in the technical aspects of effective legislation and regulations but also in countering industry attempts to undermine these measures. Examples during the reporting period included:
- In support of Uruguay, the Bureau submitted an amicus brief defending tobacco control legislation that is being challenged by Philip Morris International at the World Bank Group's International Centre for Settlement of Investment Disputes.
- In Ecuador, the Bureau provided similar support for regulations requiring front-of-package nutrition labeling for processed foods.
- PAHO's Director provided written support for legislation in Peru on healthy food for children and adolescents to the Congress's health committee and the Minister of Health, while Bureau technical experts provided evidence to inform discussions about new regulations to implement the law.
- In Jamaica, PAHO helped the Ministry of Health defend new tobacco control
 measures against industry opposition, including through advocacy at the prime
 ministerial level.
- Most recently, PAHO's Representative Office in Chile joined with the FAO country office to counter industry attempts to block implementation of new regulations requiring front-of-package warning labels on processed foods high in sugar, salt, or saturated fat.
- 51. In related developments during the period, Nicaragua and Uruguay became the world's first countries to ratify the new WHO Protocol to Eliminate Illicit Trade in Tobacco Products.

Addressing the Social and Environmental Determinants of Health

- 52. Adding to the list of public health firsts during the past year, PAHO's 53rd Directing Council approved the Regional Plan of Action on Health in All Policies (Document CD53/10, Rev. 1 [2014]), the first of its kind among WHO regions. The plan promotes a public policy approach that systematically considers the potential health implications of all policy decisions, seeks to create synergies to protect and promote health, and addresses the social and environmental conditions that impact health.
- 53. The Bureau convened an expert consultation in March 2015 in which leading global experts produced a five-year roadmap with recommendations and proposed actions to implement the regional plan of action. In line with their recommendations, the Bureau established a special task force to define a core group of indicators from across the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) framework that can be used to promote intersectoral actions and monitor their impact on health. The task force will also provide countries with demand-based technical expertise and guidance on implementing the SDGs.
- 54. Also in line with the recommendations of the expert consultation, Suriname hosted the first subregional training on health in all policies for ministerial technical staff, policy advisors, and members of nongovernmental organizations.

Leading by Example: New Metrics on Health Inequality

National averages are poor indicators for analyzing and addressing inequities in health. As part of its longstanding commitment to health equity and sustainable development, the Bureau in 2014 adopted a new set of metrics for measuring changes in health inequality. The metrics, which underwent a rigorous critical review, consist of two measures of inequality for use in conjunction with four key indicators: infant mortality, maternal mortality, premature mortality due to NCDs, and mortality amenable to health care, that is, premature deaths that would not have occurred in the presence of timely and effective health care.

The new metrics consist of one absolute gradient indicator, the "slope index of inequality," and a relative gap indicator, the "relative range difference." Both are to be applied to the four health indicators, using country groupings defined by the Health Needs Index established in the PAHO Budget Policy. The new metrics were approved by PAHO's Directing Council in 2014, and their adoption makes the Bureau the first WHO Regional Office—and the first agency of the United Nations system—to use measurable health equity indicators and targets to evaluate the impact of its own technical cooperation programs.

Climate Change and Health

- 55. Climate change is recognized as a serious threat to public health. At the global level, WHO estimates that between 2030 and 2050, climate change will produce an additional 250,000 deaths annually due to malnutrition, malaria, diarrhea, and heat stress.
- 56. As part of its work in this area, the Bureau took a leadership role at the 20th Conference of the Parties to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC CoP20), held in December 2014 in Lima, Peru. Together with Peru's Minister of Health, the Bureau helped persuade negotiators to include health (which had been omitted) in working documents and to explicitly consider the health dimensions of climate change, especially as related to issues of equity. This achievement set the stage for the public health community to ensure, going forward, that health and health equity are priority issues in the "elements" text that will be negotiated in December 2015. It also presents an opportunity to highlight the health benefits of well-planned mitigation actions, including those aimed at reducing air pollution.
- 57. Also during the reporting period, the Bureau brought together representatives of 15 countries of the Region to prepare for the implementation the WHO Air Quality Guidelines, which seek to mitigate air pollution and its impact on both climate change and health at the local level. In the context of the guidelines, participants reviewed existing national programs in their countries for reducing the use of solid fuels and transitioning to cleaner technologies and fuels.

Smart Health Facilities in the Caribbean

- 58. Hurricanes, tropical storms, and other weather-related disasters can significantly disrupt access to health services. However, the health sector itself is a major contributor to climate change through the environmental impact of health facilities. PAHO's Smart Hospitals initiative helps countries reduce the environmental footprint of new or existing health facilities while also increasing their safety and resilience in case of disasters.
- 59. During the reporting period, the Bureau worked with health and disaster response authorities in Belize, the British Virgin Islands, and Grenada to review proposed and existing health facilities using the Smart Hospitals checklist, in order to increase their water and energy efficiency and to reduce risks. Belize's Ministry of Health used the results of the review to persuade the Ministry of Finance to allocate more resources to the health sector.
- 60. Following a successful first phase of the Smart Hospitals initiative in Saint Kitts and Nevis, the U.K. Department for International Development (DFID) decided in May 2015 to extend support for the initiative's implementation in Dominica, Grenada, Saint Lucia, and Saint Vincent and the Grenadines.

Regional Report on Road Safety

61. In May 2015, the Bureau published its latest Report on Road Safety in the Region of the Americas. The report shows that some 150,000 people died from traffic injuries in Latin America and the Caribbean in 2010. Of these deaths, 27% were pedestrians, 20% motorcyclists, and 3.7% were bicyclists. The report also notes that 42% of the population in Latin America and the Caribbean is now protected by drinking-and-driving laws. However, of the 14 countries that have legislation setting blood alcohol concentration limits, only 5 of them—Costa Rica, Ecuador, Honduras, Panama, and Saint Vincent and the Grenadines—report having strong enforcement. Similarly, laws on motorcycle helmet use have improved, but more efforts are needed to enforce those laws and ensure that helmets meet quality standards. The report calls for stronger traffic law enforcement to reduce road deaths and especially to protect the most vulnerable road users.

Status Report on Violence Prevention in the Americas

- 62. In March 2015, the Bureau published the Status Report on Violence Prevention in the Region of the Americas, 2014. It provides updated information on interpersonal violence prevention in the Americas, based on the Global Status Report on Violence Prevention 2014, a collaborative report produced by WHO and its regional offices, the United Nations Development Program (UNDP), and the United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC).
- 63. For the regional report, the Bureau gathered information from 21 countries in the Americas, representing 88% of the Region's population. The report estimates that in 2012 there were 165,617 deaths in low- and middle-income countries of Latin America and the Caribbean that were due to homicide, and three-quarters of these were carried out with firearms. This represents 28.5 homicides per 100,000 people, more than four times the global homicide rate (6.7 per 100,000). The report also finds that three-quarters of the Region's countries have national action plans to reduce violence, and all countries have laws regulating firearms. However, a third of these were lacking data, suggesting that much planning and policymaking is done in the absence of evidence.
- 64. The status report will support policymaking in Member States and the design of effective plans and initiatives, including programs to reduce the availability and harmful use of alcohol, laws and programs to reduce access to firearms and knives, efforts to change gender norms that help perpetuate violence against women, programs to improve parenting and life skills in children and adolescents, and public information campaigns to prevent elder abuse.

Promoting Maternal, Child, and Adolescent Health

65. Maternal health remains an area of major concern throughout the Region and a special challenge for progress toward universal health. Millennium Development Goal 5 was one of the few MDGs that Latin America and the Caribbean did not achieve: though

maternal deaths declined an average 2.2% per year, this was less than half the 5.5% annual decline needed to achieve MDG 5. This shortfall was the result of gaps in countries' abilities to ensure quality, comprehensive and universally accessible sexual and reproductive health services, in addition to poverty and other social determinants of health.

- 66. A priority area of action during the reporting period was improving the ability of health professionals in perinatal care to respond to obstetric hemorrhage, one of the leading causes of maternal death. These efforts were part of the "Zero Maternal Deaths from Hemorrhage" initiative, spearheaded by PAHO's Latin American Center for Perinatology/Women's Reproductive Health (CLAP/SMR) with support from the Latin American Federation of Societies of Obstetrics and Gynecology. The initiative targets subnational areas with high maternal mortality ratios (over 70 per 100,000 live births). Participating countries include Bolivia, the Dominican Republic, Guatemala, Guyana, Haiti, Honduras, Paraguay, and Peru.
- 67. The Bureau provided training for health professionals from these countries on effective management of obstetric hemorrhage in clinical settings and through national work plans. The Bureau also provided 16 birthing simulators and 32 non-pneumatic anti-shock garments for use in national-level workshops in which some 210 additional health providers received training. Most recently, Nicaragua also adopted the same training approach.
- 68. Complications of unsafe abortion are another leading cause of maternal death in the Region. Data are very difficult to collect on the problem because of the nature of illegal abortion and the lack of reliable registration of related events in countries' health systems. However, PAHO estimates that some 4 million women have abortions each year in Latin America alone, the vast majority of them unsafe.
- 69. To improve data collection on abortion, both legal and illegal, and quality of care for women who undergo them, CLAP/SMR developed a special Clinical Record for Abortion as part of its Perinatal Information System (SIP). In April 2015, CLAP/SMR and the International Federation of Gynecology and Obstetrics convened experts from throughout the Region in Panama to validate the SIP-A form. The experts produced a six-month work plan to refine the form according to country needs and for incorporation into SIP's Web-based and mobile applications. WHO is also planning to use the SIP-A form to launch a multi-country study on abortion care.

A Promise Renewed for the Americas

During the reporting period, the Bureau served as the technical secretariat for "A Promise Renewed for the Americas," an interagency movement working to reduce the profound inequities in reproductive, maternal, neonatal, child, and adolescent health that persist in Latin America and the Caribbean. Work during the period included the identification of funding gaps and funding opportunities, the creation of a digital database for articles and documents on health inequalities, and a series of regional events aimed at fostering political and technical discussions on maternal

and child health equity.

At the country level, the movement began a series of training workshops aimed at building capacity in ministries of health for measuring and monitoring health inequalities at the national and subnational levels.

- 70. Adolescent pregnancy has a major impact on maternal and child health and socioeconomic outcomes. These pregnancies increase the health risks for both mothers and children while reducing adolescent girls' chances for education and future employment. PAHO has been a key actor in mobilizing strategic partnerships and actions to address this problem in Latin America and the Caribbean, which have among the highest adolescent fertility rates in the world (exceeded only by sub-Saharan Africa).
- 71. In 2014, the Council of Ministers of Health of Central America and the Dominican Republic (COMISCA) as well as the first ladies of Central America endorsed a subregional plan for preventing adolescent pregnancy, based on the outcomes of an international symposium spearheaded by the Bureau earlier in that same year. Priority areas include improving sexual and reproductive health services for adolescents, training health workers, promoting supportive legislative and policy environments, expanding and improving sex education, and encouraging youth participation. The Bureau is providing support for countries' implementation of the plan.

Cross-cutting Themes: Gender, Equity, Human Rights, and Ethnicity

- 72. PAHO's Strategic Plan specifies four cross-cutting themes—gender, equity, human rights, and ethnicity—that are to be incorporated on a priority basis across the spectrum of the Organization's technical cooperation. In December 2014, the Director established a new inter-programmatic working group responsible for facilitating this process. Its duties include ensuring that information relevant to these themes is shared across different departments and units, and designing and implementing initiatives to promote collaborative work in these areas. During the reporting period, the working group organized a training course for all PAHO staff on the social determinants of health in the context of the cross-cutting themes. Participants were encouraged to identify practical ways of incorporating these themes into their work, and the results were used to finalize a set of guidelines for mainstreaming the cross-cutting themes into the Organization's work.
- 73. In response to a mandate from PAHO's 52nd Directing Council to address disparities in access to and use of health services by lesbians, gays, bisexuals, and trans (LGBT) people (Document CD52/18 [2013]), the Bureau organized the first-ever Regional Meeting on the Health of LGBT Persons and Human Rights in December 2014. Representatives of ministries of health, human rights organizations, universities, and civil society came together to discuss barriers to access for LGBT people to needed health services, as well as successful experiences in overcoming these barriers. Among other outcomes, the meeting produced recommendations for strategies and initiatives to collect

and analyze data on how well health services in the Region are meeting the needs of the LGBT community.

- 74. In the area of gender and health, the Bureau completed a final evaluation of the 2009-2014 plan of action for PAHO's Gender Equality Policy (Document CD54/INF/2 [2015]), based on self-assessments by 32 countries and territories. Key findings included:
- The proportion of Member States with gender and health policies and plans increased from 47% in 2011 to 59% in 2014.
- The proportion of countries with gender and health budgets increased from 39% to 44%.
- The Bureau's technical units reported using sex-disaggregated data in 72% of guidelines produced between 2009 and 2014.
- Eighty-eight percent of Member States reported using such data in their own guidelines.
- Only 20% of the Member States reported actively monitoring their health sector's commitments on gender mainstreaming.
- 75. The report concludes that the Bureau and PAHO Member States have made progress in implementing the Gender Equality Policy, but this progress has been uneven. It urges more sustainable budget allocations for this area of work and calls for more collection and analysis of gender-disaggregated data to support advocacy, policymaking, and programming.

Partnering for Emergency Preparedness and Response in Health

- 76. PAHO's work in disaster management seeks to increase the capacity of the health sector to prevent or reduce the health consequences of emergencies, disasters, and crises. In 2014, the Bureau provided technical cooperation and mobilized resources for disaster risk reduction, preparedness, and response in Latin America and the Caribbean. This included more than \$8.6 million in humanitarian assistance to meet the health needs of people affected by floods in Bolivia and Paraguay, drought and associated food shortages in Guatemala and Honduras, and severe weather in three Eastern Caribbean countries. The Bureau also continued to address the humanitarian needs of displaced populations in Colombia as well as the health recovery in Haiti.
- 77. During the period, PAHO continued to lead the mainstreaming of comprehensive disaster management in the health sector of CARICOM Member States. The Bureau contributed to the finalization of a subregional strategy and programming framework for 2014-2024 based on this approach, as well as an action plan and performance monitoring framework. The Bureau is also supporting the establishment of a new CARICOM Disaster Assessment and Coordination (CDAC) team that is intended to improve support for countries during emergencies and to better coordinate damage assessment and needs

analysis. Training for CDAC team members began in May 2015, and the teams were expected to be operational by August 2015.

- 78. Bureau experts also supported the Eastern Caribbean Development Partners Group on Disaster Management, which facilitates coordination of external emergency assistance to Eastern Caribbean countries affected by major disasters. In February 2014, the Bureau participated in an after-action exercise to review the emergency response to heavy rains that affected Saint Lucia and Saint Vincent and the Grenadines in 2013.
- 79. The Bureau also strengthened its coordination with the 35 members of the Risk Emergency Disaster Working Group for Latin America and the Caribbean (REDLAC), coordinated by the U.N. Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (OCHA). Bureau experts helped revise a training course on the new humanitarian architecture, led health-related sessions during international events to improve disaster response, and participated in efforts to improve inter-cluster and interagency coordination during emergencies.
- 80. In coordination with the Andean Health Organization (ORAS-CONHU), the Bureau continued its work with ministries of health in the Andean region to translate the strategic lines of the subregion's Strategic Plan for Disaster Risk Management in the Health Sector (2013-2017) into action. During 2014, the Bureau supported the incorporation of the plan at the political level in the ministries of health of Ecuador and Chile; the organization of inter-country simulation exercises and drills for Peru and Bolivia, Colombia and Ecuador, and Chile and Peru; and the development of cross-border emergency plans.

Advancing Health on the Inter-American Agenda

- 81. As part of its efforts to promote universal health and keep health high on the Region's political agenda, the Bureau collaborated with the Joint Summit Working Group and Summit Implementation Review Group of the Organization of American States (OAS) on a "Mandates for Action" document prepared for the VII Summit of the Americas in Panama in April 2015. The Bureau provided technical inputs during discussions that led to a consensus among OAS Members States on eight health-related paragraphs that were included in the final document. The paragraphs supported priority health issues that included universal access to health and universal health coverage, disease outbreak and response and the International Health Regulations, NCDs, water and sanitation, food and nutrition, and maternal and child health.
- 82. In related efforts, the Bureau contributed to the development of a new Inter-American Convention on the Human Rights of Older Persons. Through their participation in a special OAS working group, Bureau experts helped incorporate health-related issues of special relevance to older adults, including access to palliative care, human rights in long-term care services, preferential access to comprehensive health services, and legal mechanisms to guarantee informed consent and for explicit expression

of preferences for end-of-life support. The convention was adopted by the OAS General Assembly in June 2015 and is the first international treaty on the rights of older adults.

Chapter II. Enhancing Institutional Efficiency and Effectiveness

83. During the reporting period, the Bureau continued its efforts to strengthen organizational efficiency, manage risks effectively, enhance transparency and accountability, and ensure ethics and fair treatment in the workplace.

Internal Evaluation and Oversight

- 84. An important development during the period was a new oversight initiative designed to improve the evaluation process within the Bureau. Historically, this process has suffered from a lack of coordination of the evaluation assignments that objectively review the performance and impact of programs and activities. A large share of this evaluation activity has been driven by external funding partners. Although evaluation reports have revealed important lessons for the Bureau, the findings have generally been limited to individual programs or specific country offices, with little sharing of lessons learned across the Bureau.
- 85. In March 2015, the Bureau produced the first of a planned series of twice-yearly reports that will consolidate the major lessons learned from evaluation reports for dissemination across the Organization. The goal is to open the door to the use of evaluation assignments whose scope extends beyond individual programs or country offices, thereby nurturing ongoing improvements and decision-making processes of the Bureau and adding to both institutional memory and institutional development.
- 86. Also in the area of internal oversight, the Bureau hired an internal auditor in late 2014 to assess the risks and internal controls of the Mais Médicos program in Brazil. The auditor will perform four internal audit assignments annually on the program for its duration.

Information Technology and Management

87. One of the most important internal developments during the reporting period was the implementation of key parts of the new PASB Management Information System (PMIS). This \$22.5 million initiative will modernize and improve support for the Bureau's operations and technical cooperation. During the second half of 2014 and the first half of 2015, the project's Human Capital Management module and payroll component (phase 1) were implemented, and implementation began of the system's finance portion (phase 2, to be completed in early 2016). Phase 1 replaced many of the Bureau's human resources legacy systems, while phase 2 will replace its core legacy financial systems: AmpesOmis, AMS/FMS (Award Management System/Financial Management System), FAMIS (Financial Accounting Management Information System), ADPICS (Advance Purchasing Inventory Control System), and SOS (Simplified Online Search). A number of other existing systems will continue to operate outside the scope of PMIS, including e-recruitment, taxes, pension, staff health insurance, and SharePoint.

- 88. Formal PMIS training for staff began at Headquarters in November 2014 and continued through February 2015. A "Go Live Support Center" assisted staff during the rollout process, and lessons learned in phase 1 were documented to help improve functionality in phase 2. The PMIS project remains on budget and on time, and its planned full "go live" date remains as scheduled, for January 2016.
- 89. In the area of information technology (IT), the Bureau completed a comprehensive IT assessment during the period that produced 24 recommendations for modernizing this key area of institutional support. These recommendations were incorporated into a new IT strategy that responds to important changes in the Bureau's IT needs and environment, including the introduction of the new PMIS, growing demands from PAHO technical programs for improvements in the Bureau's IT systems, the proliferation of cloud-based services, anticipation of an unusually high turnover of IT personnel in the next five years, information security challenges, and the expansion of social media into the workplace.
- 90. The new strategy provides a framework for IT management, a mechanism for determining levels of investment and allocations across the entire IT portfolio, and a benchmark for total IT spending. The Bureau also revised an outdated IT governance process to improve decision-making and priority-setting for all IT-related projects and investments.

Fostering Excellence and Ethics in Staff Performance

- 91. The Bureau continued developing its human resources strategy, the "PAHO People Strategy," with the goal of strengthening the Organization's most important asset: its human capital. The strategy aims to ensure that the Bureau can attract and retain top talent, with the right skills and competencies, and that the Bureau's working environment is conducive to staff members performing at their best. During the reporting period, working groups advanced in three areas of the strategy: work force architecture, skills renewal, and modernization of country offices and centers. Five staff surveys were conducted and the findings shared with the three working groups to use in developing recommendations that were expected to be presented to Executive Management in July 2015.
- 92. The Bureau also continued its efforts to foster ethical conduct in the Bureau's operations and activities. Two important initiatives were undertaken during the reporting period to improve staff awareness of ethical issues.
- 93. The first was a new conflict-of-interest disclosure program, launched in November 2014, designed to ensure that the private interests of staff do not interfere with their official duties in the Organization. The program consists of a questionnaire that was initially issued to 125 senior staff through an online survey, which will be repeated annually. The survey gives Bureau staff the opportunity to disclose pertinent information

to enable the Bureau's Ethics Office to identify potential conflicts of interest that could arise from a staff member's relationships and activities outside of PAHO.

94. In the second initiative, at the recommendation of PAHO's Audit Committee, the Ethics Office collaborated with PAHO's Representative Office in Brazil to provide training in both Portuguese and Spanish to the entire Mais Médicos team. The training focused on potential risks in the program; existing Bureau efforts and initiatives to prevent and combat fraud, corruption, and workplace misconduct; and policies and programs designed to promote a work environment where all personnel are treated with dignity and respect.

Chapter III. Looking Ahead: Positioning PAHO for the SDG Era

- 95. For the international development community, 2015 marks the end of an era and a time for assessing the progress made at global, regional, and country levels toward achieving the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs). Recent data show that, by the end of 2015, the Americas as a Region will likely have met all but one of the health-related MDGs. Notably, it has fallen short of achieving the maternal mortality reductions called for in MDG 5, but on other health-related indicators, the Region's progress has been on track.⁶
- 96. This progress is worth celebrating, but it has not been sufficient to overcome longstanding and deep health inequities between and within the Region's countries. Both maternal and infant mortality remain high in some countries of the Region and among poor and vulnerable groups in particular. Adolescent fertility rates remain high due to unmet needs for contraception and insufficient health education, problems that also contribute to the spread of HIV/AIDS. Meanwhile, too many people in the Region, especially in rural areas, remain without access to basic sanitation, putting them—especially children—at elevated risk of many diseases.
- 97. Sustaining the gains of the MDG era will be critical for future health and development in the Americas, but bridging the remaining gaps is clearly the greatest challenge for the Region beyond 2015. What are the lessons learned in this respect from pursuing the MDGs, and how can they be applied to the Bureau's and countries' efforts to reach the new Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs)?

Figure 1

Sustainable Development Goals

- 1. End poverty in all its forms everywhere.
- 2. End hunger, achieve food security and improved nutrition and promote sustainable agriculture.
- 3. Ensure healthy lives and promote well-being for all at all ages.
- 4. Ensure inclusive and equitable quality education and promote lifelong learning opportunities for all.
- 5. Achieve gender equality and empower all women and girls.
- 6. Ensure availability and sustainable management of water and sanitation for all.
- 7. Ensure access to affordable, reliable, sustainable and modern energy for all.
- 8. Promote sustained, inclusive and sustainable economic growth, full and productive employment and decent work for all.

⁶ Additional analysis can be found in the PAHO report Progress on the Health-related Millennium Development Goals, which will be distributed during the 54th Directing Council in September-October 2015.

- 9. Build resilient infrastructure, promote inclusive and sustainable industrialization and foster innovation.
- 10. Reduce inequality within and among countries.
- 11. Make cities and human settlements inclusive, safe, resilient and sustainable.
- 12. Ensure sustainable consumption and production patterns.
- 13. Take urgent action to combat climate change and its impacts.*
- 14. Conserve and sustainably use the oceans, seas and marine resources for sustainable development.
- 15. Protect, restore and promote sustainable use of terrestrial ecosystems, sustainably manage forests, combat desertification, and halt and reverse land degradation and halt biodiversity loss.
- 16. Promote peaceful and inclusive societies for sustainable development, provide access to justice for all and build effective, accountable and inclusive institutions at all levels.
- 17. Strengthen the means of implementation and revitalize the global partnership for sustainable development.

Source: Draft outcome document of the United Nations summit for the adoption of the post-2015 development agenda (A/69/L.85 [2015])

98. The SDGs represent an aspirational agenda, broader and more ambitious than the focused vision of the MDGs. In contrast to the three (out of a total eight) MDGs that dealt explicitly with health, only one—SDG 3—of the 17 SDGs is dedicated entirely to health (Figures 1 and 2). SDG 3's 13 targets, however, address a wide range of health issues: from road traffic injuries and tobacco control to the health work force and noncommunicable diseases (NCDs)—the most conspicuous health concern that was omitted from the MDGs. Moreover, all of the SDGs have critical implications for health and well-being. Expected to be adopted at the September 2015 UN Summit, the SDGs reflect the success of countries' advocacy to keep health high on the world's emerging development agenda.

Figure 2

SDG 3. Ensure healthy lives and promote well-being for all at all ages

- 3.1 By 2030, reduce the global maternal mortality ratio to less than 70 per 100,000 live births.
- 3.2 By 2030, end preventable deaths of newborns and children under 5 years of age, with all countries aiming to reduce neonatal mortality to at least as low as 12 per 1,000 live births and under-5 mortality to at least as low as 25 per 1,000 live births.
- 3.3 By 2030, end the epidemics of AIDS, tuberculosis, malaria and neglected tropical diseases and combat hepatitis, water-borne diseases and other communicable diseases.
- 3.4 By 2030, reduce by one third premature mortality from non-communicable diseases through

^{*} Acknowledging that the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change is the primary international, intergovernmental forum for negotiating the global response to climate change.

- prevention and treatment and promote mental health and well-being.
- 3.5 Strengthen the prevention and treatment of substance abuse, including narcotic drug abuse and harmful use of alcohol.
- 3.6 By 2020, halve the number of global deaths and injuries from road traffic accidents.
- 3.7 By 2030, ensure universal access to sexual and reproductive health-care services, including for family planning, information and education, and the integration of reproductive health into national strategies and programmes.
- 3.8 Achieve universal health coverage, including financial risk protection, access to quality essential health-care services and access to safe, effective, quality and affordable essential medicines and vaccines for all.
- 3.9 By 2030, substantially reduce the number of deaths and illnesses from hazardous chemicals and air, water and soil pollution and contamination.
- 3.a Strengthen the implementation of the World Health Organization Framework Convention on Tobacco Control in all countries, as appropriate.
- 3.b Support the research and development of vaccines and medicines for the communicable and non-communicable diseases that primarily affect developing countries, provide access to affordable essential medicines and vaccines, in accordance with the Doha Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health, which affirms the right of developing countries to use to the full the provisions in the Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights regarding flexibilities to protect public health, and, in particular, provide access to medicines for all.
- 3.c Substantially increase health financing and the recruitment, development, training and retention of the health workforce in developing countries, especially in least developed countries and small island developing States.
- 3.d Strengthen the capacity of all countries, in particular developing countries, for early warning, risk reduction and management of national and global health risks.

Source: Draft outcome document of the United Nations summit for the adoption of the post-2015 development agenda (A/69/L.85 [2015])

- 99. <u>PAHO's Strategic Plan 2014-2019</u> currently guides the Bureau's technical cooperation. The document responds to the global MDGs, the regional Health Agenda for the Americas 2008-2017, and national priorities identified through PAHO's Country Cooperation Strategies. It is also programmatically aligned with WHO's Twelfth General Programme of Work.
- 100. The Strategic Plan also anticipates the post-2015 development agenda both explicitly and implicitly. Its impact goals and indicators, categories, program areas, and leadership priorities (Figure 3) are consistent with SDG 3, whose targets address specific diseases and health threats while also calling on countries to achieve universal care.
- 101. PAHO's Strategic Plan also sets out the approaches needed to achieve these goals. It specifically seeks to catalyze changes in the health sector that transcend traditional disease-oriented approaches. It addresses emerging issues such as climate change, globalization, and modernization, and it advances a model of health and development

based on equity and environmental sustainability. It urges increased health sector capacity to promote multisectoral action and "health in all policies" to address the social determinants of health. Its "cross-cutting themes"—gender, equity, human rights, and ethnicity—and "key countries" provisions point to specific forms of inequity that must be addressed to overcome persisting gaps and advance the larger vision of the SDGs.

Figure 3

Leadership Priorities, PAHO Strategic Plan 2014-2019

- a) Strengthen the health sector's capacity to address the social determinants of health, utilizing the Health in All Policies strategy and promoting increased community participation and empowerment.
- b) Catalyze the progressive realization of universal health coverage, with emphasis on the eight key countries, including promotion and preventive interventions.
- c) Increase intersectoral and multisectoral action for prevention and care of noncommunicable diseases.
- d) Enhance the core capacities of countries to implement the International Health Regulations of 2005.
- e) Accelerate actions for the elimination of priority communicable diseases in the Region.
- f) Conclude work on the health-related Millennium Development Goals and influence the integration of health in the post-2015 agenda for sustainable development.
- g) Strengthen the health sector's capacity to generate information and evidence to measure and demonstrate progress on healthy living and well-being.
- h) Leverage the knowledge and expertise in countries of the Region for the provision of technical cooperation, sharing successful experiences and lessons learned.
- i) Increase accountability, transparency, efficiency, and effectiveness of the Bureau's operations.

Source: Strategic Plan of the Pan American Health Organization 2014-2019 (Official Document 345 [2014])

102. The PAHO Strategic Plan thus provides a sound framework for the Bureau's technical cooperation with its Member States in the post-2015 era. However, experience from the MDGs suggests that new, more focused approaches to reducing inequity will be needed to ensure that efforts to advance the SDGs and the goals of the Strategic Plan will benefit those people and communities with the greatest needs.

Monitoring Inequality: A Critical Challenge

103. The SDGs address the issue of inequality both implicitly, by calling for the benefits of development to be shared with "all," and explicitly through SDG 10, "reduce inequality within and among countries." This emphasis reflects growing recognition—informed by a wide body of evidence—that inequality is not only unjust, it also threatens continued economic growth, political and social stability, and future sustainability.

- 104. This focus is important to ensure that the SDGs avoid outcomes similar to those of the MDGs, in which indications of progress at the national or regional level concealed the fact that vulnerable population groups were often left behind. But for the success of the SDG agenda overall and, in particular, SDG 3, it will also be critical to strengthen the capacity of health information systems to collect and analyze quality health data disaggregated by key social and equity stratifiers, including through the use of meaningful indicators to gauge inequality and monitor countries' progress in reducing it.
- 105. Recognizing the importance of this challenge, the Bureau has taken steps to improve monitoring of health inequality and has begun to identify key targets and indicators from each of the 17 SDGs that can be used to monitor progress toward greater equity in health.

Engaging at the Subnational Level

- 106. The Bureau's technical cooperation has historically—though not exclusively—been focused at the national level, with interactions involving primarily counterparts in national capitals and specifically in ministries of health. Addressing health needs where they are greatest will require more focus on the subnational level and more interaction with local authorities and communities.
- 107. There are precedents for this approach in the Bureau's work. Examples include the Tuberculosis Control in Large Cities initiative and the annual Malaria Champions of the Americas awards, which identify and honor innovative initiatives at both the community and national levels. Going forward, the establishment of effective frameworks for coordinating action at the local, national, and international levels can provide an important stimulus for more engagement at the local level for both the Bureau and national counterparts.
- 108. Reducing inequity—and advancing toward universal health—will also require greater focus on addressing the needs of indigenous and Afro-descendant peoples. In addition to promoting multicultural approaches, this area of work also can benefit from greater engagement directly with communities and civil society organizations that represent them.

Universal Health and Health in All Policies

109. Reducing health inequities is at the core of PAHO's regional Strategy for Universal Access to Health and Universal Health Coverage (Document CD53/5, Rev. 2 [2014]). The inclusion of universal health coverage as a target within SDG 3 is an important endorsement of health equity as essential to countries' development, and it should help ministries of health as they try to mobilize additional resources to expand coverage to greater numbers of people and to offer a broader range of health services. The Bureau's technical cooperation can provide additional support by helping ministries

assemble the evidence and arguments needed to persuade other sectors of government that advancing toward universal access and coverage will bring socioeconomic benefits.

- 110. Regardless of levels of investment, however, countries can make progress toward universal health by capitalizing on existing opportunities to increase efficiency within their health systems. Among the ways of effectively optimizing the use of health system resources are to shift investment toward primary care, improve access to qualified human resources for health, and apply evidence-based selection and incorporation of medicines and health technologies.
- 111. Advancing universal health will also require continued advocacy of and capacity-building for multisectoral action and "health in all policies." The health sector must be well equipped to engage in dialogue and partner effectively with other areas and levels of government—including the environment, agriculture, finance, justice, and education—to promote health and reduce health inequities by addressing risks and social determinants that are beyond its own purview. Multisectoral action is a central component of the Bureau's work in noncommunicable diseases, and its newly established Task Force on Health in All Policies and the Sustainable Development Goals will provide technical cooperation with a view to positioning both health and equity at the center of all public policy-making.

Prevention and Control of NCDs

- 112. The risk of NCDs is strongly associated with social and environmental determinants and with the negative effects of globalization and urbanization. Many governments have lagged behind in developing policies, frameworks, and legislation needed to protect citizens, and especially children, from exposure to marketing of sugary beverages, ultra-processed foods, tobacco, and alcohol.
- 113. The PAHO Plan of Action for the Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases in the Americas (2013-2019) specifies the types of multisectoral policies and partnerships that are needed to promote NCD prevention and control by addressing risk and protective factors. The Bureau's continued technical cooperation, guidance, and advocacy will be critical to future progress, in order to ensure that the interests of public health are fully realized.
- 114. The recently constituted Inter-American Task Force on NCDs provides a unique model for cross-sector collaboration on NCDs at the level of cooperation agencies, bringing members of the Inter-American system⁷ together with the U.N. Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean (ECLAC) and the World Bank. The alliance holds promise for mobilizing resources for NCD prevention and control and for raising awareness at the highest political levels of the need to create health-supporting

Member agencies of the Inter-American system: the Organization of American States (OAS), the Inter-American Development Bank (IDB), the Inter-American Institute for Cooperation on Agriculture (IICA), and the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO).

environments in collaboration with other sectors such as agriculture, education, and trade. The alliance can also promote better understanding at the political level of the critical importance of regulation and taxation as public health "best buys" for reducing population exposure to the top NCD risk factors.

Promoting Leadership by Example

- 115. The challenges highlighted above will all require effective leadership from the Bureau and from PAHO Member States as the countries and territories of the Americas transition from the MDGs to the SDG era. The Bureau has been working on several fronts to ensure that it has the structures and systems it needs to rise to this challenge.
- 116. The Bureau's new framework for Cooperation among Countries for Health Development (CCHD) is central in this regard. It seeks to revitalize the Bureau's longstanding role as a facilitator of horizontal cooperation and to create new mechanisms and processes to help countries share their growing technical and programmatic capacities with each other. Equally important to sustaining the Bureau's leadership role will be efforts to strengthen existing partnerships while creating new ones with civil society organizations, agencies of the United Nations and Inter-American systems, and other multilateral agencies that share PAHO's commitment to health, equity, and development.

Looking Beyond 2015

- 117. The world's health landscape in 2015 features a reduced burden of infectious diseases and maternal and perinatal mortality, thanks in part to the MDGs and the unprecedented efforts they inspired. However, challenges in both these areas remain and must be addressed alongside the growing burden of NCDs and the overarching problem of inequity.
- 118. The Bureau's challenge will be to exercise leadership by clearly demonstrating the tangible impact of the priorities outlined above and by encouraging PAHO Member States to help each other by sharing their knowledge, experience, and know-how about what works to improve public health. PAHO as an organization and, more broadly, with its network of partners in health and development, has demonstrated its capacity to catalyze progress toward shared goals. The challenge going forward will be to capitalize on the strengths of the Bureau, PAHO Member States, and other partners to continue leading by example to advance health for all in the Region of the Americas and beyond.

Acronyms and Abbreviations

ADPICS Advance Purchasing Inventory Control System

AMS Award Management System/Financial Management System
ANMAT National Administration of Drugs, Foods and Medical Devices

ANVISA National Health Surveillance Agency (Brazil)

CAF Development Bank of Latin America

CARICOM Caribbean Community

CARPHA Caribbean Public Health Agency

CCHD Cooperation among Countries for Health Development
CDAC CARICOM Disaster Assessment and Coordination
CDC U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

CECMED Center for State Control of Drug Quality

CLAP/WR Latin American Center for Perinatology/Women's Reproductive Health

COFEPRIS Federal Commission for Protection against Sanitary Risk

COMISCA Council of Ministers of Health of Central America and the

Dominican Republic

COSALFA South American Commission for the Fight against Foot-and-Mouth

Disease

CRS Congenital rubella syndrome

DFID U.K. Department for International Development

ECLAC United Nations Economic Commission for Latin America and the

Caribbean

EVD Ebola virus disease

FAMIS Financial Accounting Management Information System
FAO Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations

FMD Foot-and-mouth disease

FDA U.S. Food and Drug Administration

GOARN Global Outbreak Alert and Response Network

HIV Human immunodeficiency virus

HPV Human papillomavirus

IDB Inter-American Development Bank

IICA Inter-American Institute for Cooperation on Agriculture

INVIMA National Institute for the Surveillance of Medicines and Food

IT Information technology

IHR International Health RegulationsLGBT Lesbian, gay, bisexual, and trans

LTA Long-term agreement

MDGs Millennium Development Goals
NCDs Noncommunicable diseases
NRA National regulatory authority
OAS Organization of American States

OCHA United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs

OIE World Organisation for Animal Health

ORAS-CONHU Andean Health Organization

PAHO Pan American Health Organization

PANAFTOSA Pan American Foot-and-Mouth Disease Center

PASB Pan American Sanitary Bureau

PHEFA Hemispheric Program for the Eradication of Foot-and-Mouth Disease

PMIS PASB Management Information System

PWR PAHO/WHO Representative

REDLAC Risk Emergency Disaster Working Group for Latin America and the

Caribbean

REGULA Strengthening the Regulatory Capacity for NCD Risk Factors

SDGs Sustainable Development Goals
SIP Perinatal Information System

SIP-A Perinatal Information System Clinical Record for Abortion

SOS Simplified Online Search

TB Tuberculosis

UNAIDS Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS

UNDP United Nations Development Program
UNEP United Nations Environment Program

UNFCCC CoP20 20th Conference of the Parties to the United Nations Framework

Convention on Climate Change

UNICEF United Nations Children's Fund

UNODC United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime

USAID United States Agency for International Development

WHO World Health Organization

Acknowledgements

The Pan American Sanitary Bureau is grateful for the support of its Member States through their quota contributions and for the generous voluntary contributions of governments, agencies, and institutions including:

American Heart Association

Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation

Brazilian National Beef Cattle Council

Canadian International Development Agency

CBM Latin America Regional Office

Colgate Palmolive Company

Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade of Australia

Department of Foreign Affairs, Trade and Development of Canada

Development Bank of Latin America

European Commission

European Commission's Humanitarian Aid and Civil Protection department

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations

GAVI, the Vaccine Alliance

Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria

Government of Argentina

Government of the Bahamas

Government of Belize

Government of Bolivia

Government of the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela

Government of Brazil

Government of Colombia

Government of Costa Rica

Government of the Dominican Republic

Government of Ecuador

Government of El Salvador

Government of Guatemala

Government of Guyana

Government of Honduras

Government of Italy

Government of Luxembourg

Government of Mexico

Government of Panama

Government of Paraguay

Government of Peru

Government of the Republic of Korea

Government of Spain

Government of Uruguay

Inter-American Development Bank

International Development Research Centre

International Agency for the Prevention of Blindness

Japan Center for International Exchange

Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS

London School of Economics and Political Science

MAC AIDS Fund

Merieux Foundation

Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Canada

National Foundation for the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

Norwegian Agency for Development Cooperation

Open Society Institute

Orbis International

PAHO Foundation

PATH

Permanent Mission of Canada to the Organization of American States

PHEFA Trust Fund

Project High Hopes Global

RAD-AID International

Rockefeller Foundation

Sabin Vaccine Institute

Sanofi Espoir Foundation

State of São Paulo

Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency

Task Force for Global Health

Texas Children's Hospital

U.K. Department for International Development

United Nations Emergency Response Fund

United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs

United Nations Central Emergency Response Fund

United Nations Children's Fund

United Nations Development Program

United Nations Foundation

United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction

United Nations Population Fund

United Nations Trust Fund for Human Security

United States Agency for International Development

University of Antioquia Foundation

University of Washington

U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services

U.S. Food and Drug Administration

Vaccine Ambassadors

World Bank

World Diabetes Foundation

- - -